Case Number: DA 19-0492

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Case Number DA 19-0492

PARK COUNTY ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL and GREATER YELLOWSTONE COALITION,

Plaintiffs and Appellees

-VS-

MONTANA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY and LUCKY MINERALS, INC.

Defendants and Appellants

Opening Brief of Appellant Lucky Minerals, Inc.

ON APPEAL FROM THE MONTANA SIXTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT PARK COUNTY

Hon. Brenda Gilbert, Presiding Judge

APPEARANCES

Jenny K. Harbine
Earthjustice
313 East Main Street
Bozeman, Montana 59715
Attorney for Appellees Park County Environmental Council and Greater
Yellowstone Coalition

I.	Statement of Issues Presented				
II.	Statement of the Case				
III.	Statement of Facts				
IV.	Standard of Review				
V.	Summary of the Argument				
VI.	. Argument				
	A.	The district court erred in its finding that Plaintiffs had standing to litigate this matter			
	В.	The district court erred in finding that DEQ's Environmental Analysis was inadequate under MEPA and that an EIS should have been prepared			
		1. The district court erred in its holding that the Department of Environmental Quality's finding that adverse effects to wildlife would be minimal was incorrect			
		The district court erred in its holding that the Department of Environmental Quality's decision that adverse impacts to water quality were insignificant was incorrect 27			
		3. The district court erred in its finding that DEQ should have been aware that granting Lucky's exploration license allowed Lucky to gain a vested development right on adjacent National Forest lands			
		4. The district court's finding that DEQ failed to consider feasible project alternatives is incorrect			
	C.	The district court's holding that Montana Code Annotated § 75-1-201(6)(c, d) are unconstitutional as applied to this case is incorrect			

	1.	<u>MEPA</u>
	2.	Montana Constitution
VII.	Conclusion	48
VIII.	Certificate	of Compliance
IX.	Certificate	of Service

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Montana Cases

In re Charles M. Bair Family Trust, 2008 MT 144, ¶ 86, 343 Mont. 138, 183 P.3d 61
Aspen Trails Ranch, LLC v. Simmons, 356 Mont. 41, 51 (2010) . 10, 34
Ravalli County Fish & Game Assn. v. Mont. Dept. of State Lands, 273 Mont. 371, 377, 903 P.2d 1362, 1366 (1995)
Hobble Diamond Ranch, LLC v. State, 2012 MT 10, ¶ 24, 363 Mont. 310, 268 P.3d 31
Clark Fork Coalition v. Montana Dept. of Environmental Quality, 2008 MT 407, ¶ 27, 347 Mont. 197, 197 P.3d 482
North Fork Preservation Ass'n v. Dept State Lands, 238 Mont. 451, 465, 778 P.2d 862, 871 (1989)
Bud-Kal v. City of Kalispell, 2009 MT 93, ¶ 18, 350 Mont. 25, 204 P.3d 738
Shelby Distributors, LLC v. Montana Dept. of Revenue, 2009 MT 80, ¶ 18, 349 Mont. 489, 206 P.3d 899
Flathead Citizens for Quality Growth, Inc. v. Flathead County Bd. Of Adjustment, 2008 MT 1, ¶ 47, 341 Mont. 1, 175 P.3d 282
State v. Lorash, 238 Mont. 345, 347, 777 P.2d 884, 886 (1989) 12
Stratemeyer v. Lincoln County, 259 Mont. 147, 150, 855 P.2d 506, 508-09 (1993), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 1011 (1993)
Fallon County v. State, 231 Mont. 443, 445-46, 753 P.2d 338, 339-40 (1988)
State v. Lilburn, 265 Mont. 258, 262, 875 P.2d 1036, 1039 (1994), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1078 (1995)

Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-331
Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-332
Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-1001
Mont. Admin. R. § 17.4.607
Mont. Admin. R. § 17.4.609
Mont. Admin. R. § 17.24 Mont. Admin. R. § 17.4.607
36 C.F.R. § 228, Subpt. A
36 C.F.R. § 228.4
Other Authorities
SB 233

I. <u>Statement of Issues Presented</u>

- A. The district court erred in its determination that Plaintiff Environmental Groups have standing.
- B. The district court erred in finding that DEQ's Environmental Analysis was inadequate under MEPA and that an EIS should have been prepared.
- C. The district courts holding that Montana Code Annotated § 75-1-201(6)(c-d) is unconstitutional is incorrect.

II. Statement of the Case

Lucky Minerals, Inc. submitted an application for a mineral exploration license to DEQ in November 2015, seeking authorization to conduct minor exploration work on its property in the Emigrant Mining District, some 12 miles southeast of Emigrant, Montana. AR 001.¹ Lucky proposed a modest drilling program restricted entirely to existing roads on the St. Julian Claim Block, a group of nine patented claims located within the Emigrant Mining District on the Custer Gallatin National Forest. AR 385. Lucky chose early on to restrict its exploration activity to the private property, as such the proposal was evaluated under the Montana Metal Mines Reclamation Act ("MMRA") and MEPA. *Id*.

¹ The Parties stipulated early on to record review based upon the Administrative Record ("AR") compiled by DEQ pursuant to the judicial review provisions of MEPA. Mont. Code Ann. § 75-1-201(6)(a)(I); see also dkt. at Nov. 20, 2017, Sch. Order. Accordingly, citation to the record here is denominated by AR followed by the Bates No. found in the upper right corner of the cited document.

MEPA requires preparation of an Environmental Impact Statement ("EIS") for "actions of state government significantly affecting the quality of the human environment." Mont. Admin. R. § 17.4.607. The DEO prepares an Environmental Analysis ("EA") to make the determination whether or not a State action is likely to "significantly" affect the environment thus requiring preparation of an EIS. Mont. Admin. R. § 17.4.607(1)(a). The Department did so in this matter, preparing an EA of remarkable scope and detail that rivals a traditional EIS in effort and content. AR 3. Due to the absence of significance, DEQ determined that an EIS was not required (AR 177) and released its EA granting Lucky's application in July 2017. The Plaintiff environmental groups challenged DEQ's EA thereafter, filing a prolix and largely speculative complaint in September 2017 followed by an amended complaint in June 2018, alleging eight causes of action against the Department:

- 1) Failure to evaluated impacts from road improvements;
- 2) Failure to rationally analyze impacts to wolverines;
- 3) Failure to rationally analyze impacts from artesian wells;
- 4) Failure to evaluate secondary impacts from full-scale mining;
- 5) Failure to evaluate a full range of reasonable alternatives;
- 6) Failure to complete an EIS;

See dkt. at Complaint.

Plaintiffs moved for summary judgment thereafter, seeking an order

that DEQ's MEPA analysis was arbitrary and unlawful. The Defendants filed cross-motions for summary judgment. Lucky challenged the Plaintiffs on all fronts including Plaintiffs' lack of standing to even challenge Lucky's permit in court; DEQ challenged Plaintiffs' flawed characterization of its obligations under Montana laws and administrative rules and rebutted the unsupported allegations in Plaintiffs' brief.

The district court issued its order on cross-motions for summary judgment in May 2018, denying Lucky's argument that Plaintiffs lacked standing to litigate and further denying both DEQ and Lucky's arguments on the merits. The district court granted summary judgment to Plaintiffs on all counts adopting in full all of Plaintiffs' arguments. *See* dkt. at May 23, 2018, Orders.

Plaintiffs subsequently moved the district court for leave to file an amended complaint alleging two additional causes of action based upon the district court's May 2018 order, *i.e.*:

- 7) Unconstitutionality of Montana Code Annotated § 75-1-201(6)(c-d) with respect to a clean and healthful environment; and
- 8) Unconstitutionality of Montana Code Annotated § 75-1-201(6)(c-d) with respect to the right of public participation.

See dkt. at Am. Compl. Plaintiffs additionally, and improperly filed a

motion to vacate Lucky's exploration license on constitutional grounds, as alleged in the not yet authorized or filed amended complaint, as well as a proposed order setting forth a proposed briefing schedule on the motion.

Both DEQ and Lucky objected to Plaintiffs' improper filings based upon procedural defects, lack of jurisdiction, and failure to notice the Montana Attorney General ("AG"). *See* dkt. at DEQ's Jun. 5, 2019, objection and Lucky's joinder. The district court nonetheless granted Plaintiffs' motion to amend and set a briefing schedule irrespective of Plaintiffs' improper motion for vacatur. The AG subsequently appeared, contested the posture of the case, and intervened as its right on the constitutional question. Dkt. at Jun. 21, 2019, App. of AG.

The parties, inclusive of the AG ultimately resolved the procedural aspects, answered and argued in opposition to Plaintiffs' motion to vacate Lucky's exploration license on constitutional grounds. The district court nonetheless held in favor of Plaintiffs on all aspects holding Montana Code Annotated § 75-1-201(6)(c-d) are unconstitutional based upon both Plaintiffs' arguments under the clean and healthful and public participation provisions of the Montana Constitution. Mont. Const. art II, §§3, 8; and art. IX, § 1. Dkt. at Apr. 12, 2019, Order.

The instant appeal follows, challenging all three of the district court's orders: May 23, 2018, Orders on Plaintiffs' Standing and Cross-motions on summary judgment, and the April 12, 2019, Order vacating Lucky's exploration in license.

III. Statement of Facts

As noted above, Lucky Minerals' proposal is to conduct a very modest exploration drilling program entirely on its private property. Lucky Mineral's property and the location of the proposed exploration drilling project is in the Emigrant Gulch Mining District on the west side of the Absaroka Mountains, Park County, Montana. AR 10. The entire project is located on private property that was patented to the individuals that located and mined the property beginning in 1864, with the discovery of placer gold in Emigrant Creek. AR 1489-90. The District has been the site of placer and lode mining and exploration work periodically since that time. *Id.* The Administrative Record at page 1489-91 lists a chronology of activity in the District, including the St. Julian area. The last drilling project was completed in 1993. AR 1491. Lucky proposes to continue the geologic exploration of the area.

Lucky will access the St. Julian mining district via an existing road

which historically accessed the St. Julian Mine area. AR 151. The road is currently used by recreationists, cabin owners, and other area visitors. *Id.*No off-site road construction will be undertaken to accommodate Lucky's casual use beyond the occasional clearing of debris as necessary for passage. Lucky's use is projected to be up to 5 round trips per day during operations. The preferred alternative provides for mitigation of Lucky's casual use to avoid the tourist facility at Chico Hot Springs to the extent possible. *Id.*

Lucky's exploration project will only affect about 4.8 acres of its private property (AR 16):

- ▶ approximately 3.48 acres of existing unimproved roads on the St. Julian claim block will be maintained to render the roads passable the roads will not be widened but merely graded to remove debris and ensure proper drainage (AR 17);
- ► a laydown area of approximately 0.8 acres will be cleared on previously disturbed ground near the old mill site at the St. Julian Mine (AR 16);
- ▶ and approximately 0.52 acres of drill locations, all of which will all be located on existing roads (AR 10) and reclaimed after drilling.

Due to adverse weather conditions, Lucky's proposed exploration project was scheduled for two field seasons of approximately three months each, July through October in 2018 and 2019. *Id.* Depending on results and weather, Lucky will implement 2 to 4 small track-mounted core drills operating for two, ten-hour shifts per day. *Id.* The purpose of Lucky's

exploration program is to gather subsurface geologic information and to gather mineralogical information designed to evaluate the property.

Lucky accordingly submitted a exploration permit application to DEQ in November 2015. The permit application is supported by a plan of operations and reclamation plan as is required by MMRA. Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-331; Mont. Admin. R. § 17.24.103. The Department published a Draft EA in October 2016 and after consideration and response to public comments, published a final EA in July 2017. Therein, the Department authorized Lucky's proposed exploration program with certain agency modifications set forth in the preferred alternative. AR 18. The Department meticulously detailed its examination of Lucky's permit application under the applicable statutory and regulatory significance guidelines and clearly articulated its findings. AR 175-177. Lucky's exploration license only authorizes it to operate within the footprint of historic roads on its property and to completely reclaim each drill hole and drill location upon completion. AR 30.

IV. Standards of Review

A. Standing

"A district court's determination regarding standing presents a

question of law which we review for correctness." In re Charles M. Bair Family Trust, 2008 MT 144, \P 86, 343 Mont. 138, 183 P.3d 61; accord Aspen Trails Ranch, LLC v. Simmons, 356 Mont. 41, 51 (2010). "

B. Montana Environmental Policy Act

The Court's standard of review for MEPA decisions is "whether the record establishes that the agency acted arbitrarily, capriciously or unlawfully." *Ravalli County Fish & Game Assn. v. Mont. Dept. of State Lands*, 273 Mont. 371, 377, 903 P.2d 1362, 1366 (1995). A review under the arbitrary and capricious standard "does not permit a reversal merely because the record contains inconsistent evidence or evidence which might support a different result. Rather, the decision being challenged must appear to be random, unreasonable or seemingly unmotivated based on the existing record." *Hobble Diamond Ranch, LLC v. State*, 2012 MT 10, ¶ 24, 363 Mont. 310, 268 P.3d 31.

When courts review an executive agency's interpretation of governing law or regulation, substantial deference is paid to the agency decisions rendered pursuant to its expertise "unless such interpretation is plainly inconsistent with the spirit of the regulation." *Clark Fork Coalition v.*Montana Dept. of Environmental Quality, 2008 MT 407, \P 27, 347 Mont.

197, 197 P.3d 482. "The courts do not substitute their judgment for that of the agency by determining whether its decision was correct. Rather, the courts examine the agency process to determine if its decision was made on sufficient information, or whether the decision was so at odds with the information gathered that it could be characterized as arbitrary or the product of caprice." *Id.*, *citing North Fork Preservation Association*, 238 Mont. 451, 465, 778 P.2d 862, 871 (1989).

It is settled law that courts interpret the substance and terms of statutes as well as the Constitution in accord with the plain meaning of the language employed. Mont. Code Ann. § 1-2-101; *Bud-Kal v. City of Kalispell*, 2009 MT 93, ¶ 18, 350 Mont. 25, 204 P.3d 738; *see also Shelby Distributors, LLC v. Montana Dept. of Revenue*, 2009 MT 80, ¶ 18, 349 Mont. 489, 206 P.3d 899 ("We read all parts of a statute as a whole and strive to give effect to all of its provisions. Our task is "simply to ascertain and declare what is in terms or in substance contained therein, not to insert what has been omitted or to omit what has been inserted.").

Finally, judicial review of an agency action must be based on the administrative record developed before the agency. *Flathead Citizens for Quality Growth, Inc. v. Flathead County Bd. Of Adjustment*, 2008 MT 1, ¶

47, 341 Mont. 1, 175 P.3d 282, ("[I]t is a general principle of administrative law . . . [that] the record developed by the agency serves to flesh out the pertinent facts upon which a decision is based in order to facilitate judicial review. *See also Ravalli County Fish & Game Ass'n Inc. v. Montana Dep't. of State Lands*, 273 Mont. 371, 377, 903 P.2d 1362, 1366 (1995) ("We review [Montana Environmental Policy Act] decisions to determine whether the record establishes that the agency acted arbitrarily, capriciously, or unlawfully.").

C. <u>Constitutional Review</u>

The Court's standard of review for challenges to all legislative enactments is that "the constitutionality of a legislative enactment is *prima facie* presumed, and every intendment in its favor will be made unless its unconstitutionality appears beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Lorash*, 238 Mont. 345, 347, 777 P.2d 884, 886 (1989). The acts of the legislature are presumed to be constitutional:

The constitutionality of a legislative enactment is prima facie presumed, and every intendment in its favor will be presumed, unless its unconstitutionality appears beyond a reasonable doubt. The question of constitutionality is not whether it is possible to condemn, but whether it is possible to uphold the legislative action which will not be declared invalid unless it conflicts with the constitution, in the judgment of the court, beyond a reasonable doubt.

Stratemeyer v. Lincoln County, 259 Mont. 147, 150, 855 P.2d 506, 508-09 (1993), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 1011 (1993) (citing Fallon County v. State, 231 Mont. 443, 445-46, 753 P.2d 338, 339-40 (1988)); see also State v. Lilburn, 265 Mont. 258, 262, 875 P.2d 1036, 1039 (1994), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1078 (1995).

A district court's constitutional conclusions are reviewed the same as other issues of law to simply determine whether or not they are correct. *See Wadsworth v. State*, 275 Mont. 287, 298, 911 P.2d 1165, 1171 (1996).

V. Summary of Argument

Since review of agency actions under MEPA are to determine whether the agency acted unlawfully, arbitrarily, or capriciously in its final decision, the Court must by definition look to the record to make that determination - did the agency indeed take the requisite "hard look" at the environmental effects of the proposed action.

An agency must take a "hard look" at the environmental impacts of a given project or proposal. Implicit in the requirement that an agency take a hard look at the environmental consequences of its actions is the obligation to make an adequate compilation of relevant information, to analyze it reasonably, and to consider all pertinent data. *Clark Fork Coalition v*.

Mont. Dept. of Env. Qual., 2008 MT 407, ¶ 47, 347 Mont. 197, 197 P.3d 482 (internal citations omitted).

The agency's environmental review in this matter was plainly searching and comprehensive. AR 3-348. The Department conducted a *de facto* EIS to ensure that it had examined every facet of Lucky's proposal, modest though it be. A more comprehensive EA will be difficult to find. The Department determined that Lucky's plans to confine its drilling to existing roads and to completely reclaim each drill site upon completion did not adversely affect the environment. The Department examined all of the Plaintiffs' complaints and adjusted its findings according as was warranted or provided a detailed explanation of why the complaint was misdirected. *See e.g.* AR at 177-348 (responses to comments).

In summary, the Court cannot fault the substance of the Department's work, it may only substitute its own judgment, which is discouraged. *North Fork Preservation Association*, 238 Mont. 451, 465, 778 P.2d 862, 871 (1989).

Moreover, the provision in MEPA that addresses remedies is a valid legislative enactment. Mont. Code Ann. § 75-1-201(6)(c, d). MEPA is a procedural statute and it ought to have a procedural remedy. The

legislature clarified the matter in the 2011 session and this Court should be cognizant of the legislature's authority to do so.

VI. Argument

A. The district court erred in its determination that Plaintiff Environmental Groups have standing to litigate this matter.

The district court erred in reviewing Plaintiffs challenge to Lucky's exploration license. In response to Lucky's challenge below, Plaintiffs asserted they collectively have standing to challenge the agency based upon the declarations of four individual board member employees: Seabring Davis, Joseph W. Josephson, Lucinda Reinold, and Michelle Uberuaga. The declarants are universally opposed to Lucky's exploration license. The declarants base their collective opposition to Lucky's exploration program largely on allegations of interference with hiking, biking, camping, fishing, hunting, and a generalized enjoyment of the local environment they assert will be damaged or destroyed by Lucky's "large scale mine" (Seabring Dec. at ¶ 6); or "large-scale industrial mining operation" (Reinold Dec. at ¶ 7); or "potentially large-scale mining" (Uberuaga Dec. at ¶ 15); and finally, the line by line generalized critique of the mining industry in general set forth in the Josephson Declaration. In summary, none of the declarants's stated fears

are relevant to this case. Lucky does not seek a permit to open a mining operation. Lucky only seeks a license to do limited exploration work on its property, nothing more or less.

Plaintiffs asserted standing to challenge Lucky's exploration license based entirely on conjecture and speculation that legal injury could potentially be visited upon the declarants at some unspecified point in the future as a result of industrial mining activity. *Id.* Plaintiffs reach excessively and their complaint must be rejected for lack of jurisdiction. Plaintiffs do not and cannot present a justiciable case, controversy, or personal injury.

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