**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA**  
**No. DA 19-0492**

---

PARK COUNTY ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL and GREATER  
YELLOWSTONE COALITION,

Plaintiffs and Appellees,

v.

MONTANA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY and LUCKY  
MINERALS, INC.,

Defendants and Appellants,

and

TIM FOX, in his capacity as Attorney General of the STATE OF MONTANA,

Intervenor and Appellant.

---

On Appeal from the Montana Sixth Judicial District Court,  
Park County, Hon. Brenda R. Gilbert, Presiding  
Cause No. DV-17-126

---

**RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFFS-APPELLEES**  
**PARK COUNTY ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL AND**  
**GREATER YELLOWSTONE COALITION**

---

Appearances:

Jenny K. Harbine

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

DEQ urges this Court to disregard the poor water quality evident near the project area because it occurs at sites north of East Fork Emigrant Creek, while Lucky’s exploration will occur immediately south of the creek. DEQ Br. 17-20, 23-24. However, while water quality samples from sites north of the East Fork exhibit generally poorer quality than water sampled from a handful of sites south of the East Fork, even south of the East Fork, samples exhibited acidity as well as

metal (cadmium, zinc) pollution exceeding water quality standards. AR **104, 110** (GWIC #284924). Indeed, even as to the water flowing from the Duval bore holes on which DEQ relies, the Montana Bureau of Mines and Geology (Hargrave et al., 2000) reported that “[t]he effect[] on ground water is unknown and may be of some concern.” AR **8063**. Although DEQ now seeks to dismiss the groundwater findings of this report, DEQ Br. 24, the Final EA relied on the sentence in the report immediately preceding this groundwater finding to support its conclusions that vegetation beyond the immediate area surrounding the Duval boreholes “appears unaffected by the water,” AR **102** (quoting Hargrave et al., 2000). DEQ cannot have it both ways by selectively adopting the Bureau findings it likes and dismissing other findings as not supported.

Further, DEQ also blames poor water quality in the exploration area on conditions “not representative” of the groundwater and geology Lucky’s drill holes may encounter. DEQ Br. 20, 22-23. But while DEQ suggests that “pyrite oxidation and other sulfides” from a granodiorite intrusive are uniquely present north of East Fork Emigrant Creek, DEQ Br. 18, the record indicates that this same geological material occurs within Lucky’s exploration area, AR 38 (exploration area is within granodiorite and dacite porphyry); AR 1505 (exploration area contains “coarse, massive pyrite”). Further, despite DEQ’s confidence that the groundwater quality Lucky will encounter will match that from the Duval

boreholes to the West, the Final EA concedes that “the depths of the [Duval] boreholes and the nature of the altered volcanics that were encountered are unknown.” AR 102; see also AR 102, 106 (describing seeps, with no information about depth of groundwater). There is no record support for DEQ’s belief that Lucky’s drill holes with depths up to 2,000 feet will encounter the same conditions as the Duval boreholes, west of the exploration area with an unknown depth and mineralogy. Indeed, the record is devoid of information about the mineralogy and groundwater in the project area at the depths at which Lucky plans to drill and the entire purpose of Lucky’s exploration project is to determine the subsurface geology and mineralization, AR 25 (Final EA project description).

In light of these information gaps, DEQ’s conclusion that Lucky’s exploratory drilling will not encounter poor quality water that is commonly associated with sulfide-ore exploration and present in areas adjacent to the project site was speculative, at best. And if poor-quality groundwater is intercepted, DEQ offered nothing more than a “plan to make a plan” to protect Yellowstone River tributaries from acid and heavy metals discharges during drilling. Because DEQ failed to “examine the relevant data and articulate a satisfactory explanation for its action, including a rational connection between the facts found and the choice made,” Mont. Wildlife Fed’n, ¶ 43 (citation omitted), the agency’s water-quality analysis was arbitrary. While DEQ’s irrational examination of this issue alone

constitutes a violation of MEPA, DEQ further violated MEPA by failing to study this potentially significant impact in an EIS. MCA § 75-1-201(1)(b)(iv); ARM 17.4.607.

**C. DEQ Unlawfully Failed to Evaluate Feasible Project Alternatives**

DEQ also violated MEPA by failing to consider alternatives for reducing the exploration project's environmental impacts. Contrary to DEQ's and Lucky's arguments, DEQ's deference to Lucky's aspirational project scope could not lawfully justify its failure to consider reasonable alternatives. One of the primary purposes of an EA is "to assist in the evaluation of reasonable alternatives and the development of conditions, stipulations or modifications to be made a part of a proposed action." ARM 17.4.607(2)(b). MEPA's alternatives requirement ensures that agencies consider alternatives to a proposed project that will accomplish the project's goals while lessening impacts. See MCA § 75-1-201(1)(b)(v) (agencies must "study, develop, and describe appropriate alternatives to recommended courses of action in any proposal that involves unresolved conflicts concerning alternative uses of available resources"); ARM 17.4.609(3)(f) (EA must include "a description and analysis of reasonable alternatives to a proposed action whenever alternatives are reasonably available and prudent to consider").

The touchstone for determining whether an alternative is reasonable is whether it would lessen environmental impacts while achieving the project's

purpose. Muckleshoot Indian Tribe v. U.S. Forest Serv., 177 F.3d 800, 812 (9th Cir. 1999) (“The stated goal of a project necessarily dictates the range of reasonable alternatives and an agency cannot define its objectives in unreasonably narrow terms.”) (quotation and alteration omitted). Here, the Final EA states that the project’s purpose is “to conduct mineral exploration at the St. Julian Claim Block.” AR 11. Yet rather than considering whether alternative project parameters could reasonably achieve this purpose, DEQ deferred to Lucky’s specific proposal to drill at 23 locations over two seasons and rejected any alternative that deviated from this scope. AR 34-36. DEQ first dismissed an alternative that would have limited exploration to one field season on the ground that doing so would require Lucky to double the intensity of drilling, using “four, rather than two, drill rigs.” AR 35. Second, DEQ dismissed an alternative to eliminate night drilling, which would avoid some of the project’s harmful effects on sensitive wildlife because, according to DEQ, it would extend exploration “for an additional three or four field seasons.” AR 35-36. DEQ’s explanations for dismissing both of these alternatives unreasonably assumed that Lucky could not reduce the number of holes it will drill. See AR 408 (“Restricting the exploration license to one drilling season would limit Lucky Minerals’ ability to explore 23 locations without increasing the number of drill rigs, employees, traffic, and noise.”); AR 6435 (DEQ inquiry to Lucky about the effects on the project timeline

of eliminating night drilling, assuming no change in project scope). Based on this assumption, DEQ concluded that neither alternative would reduce the project's intensity or environmental impacts. AR 35-36. Yet DEQ failed to actually evaluate whether Lucky could feasibly reduce the scale of its exploration project while meeting the project's purpose, simply asserting that "DEQ has no basis to second-guess Lucky Minerals['] need to conduct drilling at all of the proposed locations." AR 321.

Contrary to DEQ's suggestion, MEPA does not permit DEQ to reject alternatives by blindly deferring to a project applicant's claim about the necessary scale of its project. See Nat'l Parks & Conservation Ass'n v. BLM, 606 F.3d 1058, 1072 (9th Cir. 2010) (holding that an agency may not "adopt[] private interests to draft a narrow purpose and need statement that excludes alternatives that fail to meet specific private objectives"). Although MEPA requires DEQ to "give due weight" to Lucky's feedback about proposed alternatives, MCA § 75-1-201(1)(b)(iv)(C)(II), the statute simultaneously requires DEQ to evaluate "different parameters ... that would accomplish the same objectives as those included in the proposed action by the applicant," id. § 75-1-220(1).

DEQ asserts that it properly deferred to Lucky's aspirational project scale, but DEQ misconstrues the case law. The cases DEQ cites, DEQ Br. 38-40, stand for the unchallenged proposition that an agency may consider an applicant's goals

in determining the project purpose and evaluating alternatives. Alaska Survival v. Surface Transp. Bd., 705 F.3d 1073, 1085 (9th Cir. 2013) (“agency has discretion to determine the best way to implement its statutory objectives ... in light of the goals stated by the applicant”); Biodiversity Conservation All. v. BLM, 608 F.3d 709, 715 (10th Cir. 2010) (agency “may give substantial weight to the goals and objectives” of applicant) (quotation and citation omitted). At the same time, the cases on which DEQ relies affirm that such consideration of an applicant’s goals does not relieve an agency of its obligation to “evaluate alternative ways of achieving [the project’s] goals”—that is, alternatives that do not conform precisely to applicant’s specifications. Citizens Against Burlington, Inc. v. Busey, 938 F.2d 190, 199 (D.C. Cir. 1991); cf. Nat’l Parks Conservation Ass’n v. Jewell, 965 F. Supp. 2d 67, 81 (D.D.C. 2013) (“NPS followed NEPA’s requirements by considering the range of alternatives flowing from the proposal’s purpose, including consideration of the application’s method of achieving the goals and alternative methods.”) (emphasis added); Theodore Roosevelt Conservation P’ship v. Salazar, 661 F.3d 66, 75 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (holding that an agency “was under no obligation to include a scaled-back-development alternative that would not ‘bring about the ends of the federal action’”) (emphasis added). Despite DEQ’s confusion on this point, “[r]equiring agencies to consider [third-party] objectives ... is a far cry from mandating that those [third-party] interests define the scope of

the proposed project.” Nat’l Parks Conservation Ass’n, 606 F.3d at 1070 (emphasis added). The agency may not reject otherwise feasible alternatives merely because they differ from the applicant’s proposal. See S. Utah Wilderness All. v. Norton, 237 F. Supp. 2d 48, 52-54 (D.D.C. 2002) (BLM violated NEPA where it rejected alternatives based on its “unquestioning acceptance of the statements of [project applicants] that limiting their operations to existing roads and trails would not meet the project objectives”).

In sum, DEQ violated MEPA by failing “to conduct an independent analysis” of alternative methods of meeting Lucky’s goals while reducing the project’s environmental footprint. Id.

**D. DEQ and Lucky’s Appeal Regarding Impacts from Mine Development on Federal Lands is Moot**

While the district court properly held in May 2018 that DEQ’s MEPA analysis should have considered the threat that Lucky may obtain a vested right to mine National Forest lands adjacent to the project area, that issue was rendered moot by subsequent events and it should be dismissed from this appeal. In the alternative, the district court’s decision should be upheld.

PCEC argued and the district court held that DEQ unlawfully failed to consider whether Lucky may use information from its exploration activities to establish “valid existing rights” to mine adjacent federal lands. MEPA Decision 26. However, in March 2019, the federal lands at issue were rendered permanently

off-limits to such future mining by virtue of a Congressional mineral withdrawal. Pub. L. No. 116-9, 133 Stat. 580 (Mar. 12, 2019); see also AG Br. 28 (acknowledging that “the recent withdrawal of federal lands in the Emigrant and Crevice areas prevents Lucky Minerals from” acquiring mining rights). Because Lucky can no longer establish rights to mine federal lands, it would be pointless for DEQ to analyze this potential on remand. In circumstances such as these, when the Court can no longer grant effective relief, an appeal is moot. Shamrock Motors, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 1999 MT 21, ¶ 19, 293 Mont. 188, 193, 974 P.2d 1150, 1153 (“If the parties cannot be restored to their original position, the appeal becomes moot.”) (citations omitted). This Court “do[es] not render advisory opinions,” and DEQ and Lucky’s appeal on this issue should be dismissed. Serena Vista, LLC v. State of Mont. Dep’t of Nat. Res. & Conservation, 2008 MT 65, ¶ 14, 342 Mont. 73, 179 P.3d 510.

Should this Court determine that the issue is not moot, it should uphold the district court’s decision. MEPA requires DEQ to evaluate a project’s direct and secondary environmental impacts. ARM 17.4.609(3)(d). Such secondary impacts include any “further impact to the human environment that may be stimulated or induced by or otherwise result from a direct impact of the action.” Id. 17.4.603(18). The scope of the agency’s MEPA review must include all impacts for which there is “‘a reasonably close causal relationship’ between the subject

government action and the particular environmental effect.” Bitterrooters for Planning, Inc. v. Mont. Dep’t of Env’tl. Quality, 2017 MT 222, ¶ 25, 388 Mont. 453, 401 P.3d 712 (citation omitted).

DEQ’s claim that the potential that Lucky could mine federal lands is not an impact that is “stimulated or induced by or [would] otherwise result from” Lucky’s exploration project is unavailing. DEQ Br. 31 (quoting ARM 17.4.603(18)). The purpose of mineral exploration is to demonstrate minable reserves, and here Lucky’s “[o]verall target” is a large-scale mine on both private and public lands capable of producing millions of ounces of gold, copper, and silver. AR 1546. Lucky’s proposed exploration is an indispensable phase of this larger project. This is exactly the type of “secondary impact” that DEQ is required to evaluate. ARM 17.4.603(18).

Further, while PCEC believes this issue no longer presents a live controversy, at the time DEQ issued the Final EA and approved Lucky’s exploration license, there was a significant risk that Lucky could make a discovery of valuable minerals that would deprive DEQ of authority to prevent mining on federal lands. Under the 1872 Mining Law, which governs mining on federal lands, an individual may establish a “valid existing right” to exploit federal minerals by demonstrating a reasonable prospect of success in developing a valuable mine, given market conditions and operating costs. 30 U.S.C. § 26;

Wilderness Soc’y v. Dombeck, 168 F.3d 367, 375 (9th Cir. 1999). Such a right amounts to a possessory interest that “entitles the claim holder to the right to extract all minerals from the claim” even though “the United States retains title to the land.” McMaster v. United States, 731 F.3d 881, 885 (9th Cir. 2013) (quotation and citations omitted). Although DEQ may regulate such mining under state law, it cannot prohibit it altogether without running afoul of Lucky’s rights and federal law. S.D. Mining Ass’n, Inc. v. Lawrence Cty., 155 F.3d 1005, 1011 (8th Cir. 1998) (holding county ordinance preempted where its “de facto ban on mining on federal land” conflicts with federal law); cf. Cal. Coastal Comm’n v. Granite Rock Co., 480 U.S. 572, 586-89 (1987) (finding state regulation of mining was not preempted where “it does not seek to prohibit mining of the unpatented claim on national forest land”).

Because DEQ’s decision to grant the exploration license triggered a chain of events that DEQ would be powerless to prevent, it reflected an “irretrievable commitment of resources” that DEQ was required to evaluate under MEPA. N. Fork Pres. Ass’n v. Dep’t of State Lands, 238 Mont. 451, 462, 778 P.2d 862, 869 (1989); see also Conner v. Burford, 848 F.2d 1441, 1446, 1448-49 (9th Cir. 1988) (an “irretrievable commitment of resources” occurs when the agency no longer has the “absolute right” to prevent an activity).

Contrary to DEQ's position, DEQ was on notice of this issue through public comments requesting analysis of full-scale mining that may occur as a result of exploration, observing that Lucky may seek to access federal minerals through angle-drilling during exploration, and explaining that Lucky's establishment of valid existing rights could entitle it to drill federal minerals. See AR 181, 295-96. Although PCEC's comments present a "less refined legal argument" than presented here, they were sufficient to exhaust PCEC's administrative remedies under MEPA. Native Ecosystems Council v. Dombeck, 304 F.3d 886, 898-900 (9th Cir. 2002).

Should this Court determine that this issue was not rendered moot on appeal by the Congressional withdrawal of federal lands from future mining, it should uphold the district court's finding that DEQ's failure to consider this issue in the Final EA violated MEPA.

### **III. MEPA'S REMEDIAL RESTRICTIONS ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED TO THIS CASE, AND LUCKY'S UNLAWFULLY ISSUED EXPLORATION LICENSE SHOULD BE VACATED**

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